IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN ROBERT BALLARD, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

: Case No.SC03-1012

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Collier County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, John Robert Ballard, for the first-degree murders of Jennifer Jones (Count I) and Willie Ray Patin, Jr., (Count II) and robbery (Count III) on March 7 and 6, 1999. [V1 32-33] Defense counsel moved to bar imposition of the death penalty on the ground that Florida's capital sentencing procedure is unconstitutional under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the decision in <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). [V1 50-68; V4 671-77, 681] The court denied the motion. [V4 681-82]

Ballard was tried by jury before Circuit Judge Lauren Miller from March 31 through April 4, 2003. [V1 125; V6 1] The court denied defense counsel's motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case [V10 958-62] and at the close of all the evidence. [V11 1060] The jury found Ballard guilty as charged on all three counts of the indictment. [V1 194-95]

The penalty phase trial was held on April 11, 2003. [V1 206] Defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict. [V1 204-05; V5 776-86] The court denied the motion. [V5 786] The jury recommended the death penalty for both murders by a vote of nine to three. [V1 220]

Both parties filed sentencing memoranda. [V1 223-31; V2 232-50] The <u>Spencer¹</u> hearing was held on May 2, 2003. [V2 357; V3 607] Ballard addressed the court. He expressed sorrow for the deaths of his friends Jennifer and Bubba and told the court that he did not kill them. [V3 609-11] A presentence investigation report was prepared. [V2 362-70] On May 23, 2003, the court sentenced Ballard to death for each of the murders (Counts I and II) and to fifteen years in prison for the robbery (Count III). [V2 377-90, 395-408]

In support of the death sentences, the court found three aggravating circumstances: 1. Both murders were heinous, atrocious, or cruel (great weight).² [V2 378-79] 2. The murders were committed during the commission of a robbery (great weight).³ [V2 380] 3. Ballard was previously convicted of another capital felony, the contemporaneous murder convictions (great weight).⁴ [V2 380-81]

The court considered the following mitigating circumstances: 1. Extreme mental or emotional disturbance⁵ was not proven by Dr. Dee's testimony that Ballard suffered from brain damage, but was established by Dr. Dee's testimony that Ballard is learning disabled (very little weight). [V2 381-83] 2. Impaired capacity

¹ <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

² § 921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (1997).

³ § 921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (1997).

⁴ § 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997).

⁵ § 921.141(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997).

to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law⁶ was not proven. [V2 383] 3. The defendant's background:⁷ A. Ballard's father was an alcoholic (proven - very little weight). [V2 384] B. Ballard's father suffered from mental illness (proven - very little weight). [V2 384] C. Ballard was exposed to his parents' alcoholism as a child (proven - moderate weight). [V2 384-85] D. Ballard had no stable father figure while growing up (proven - moderate weight). [V2 384-85] E. Ballard was deprived of a nurturing mother while growing up (proven - moderate weight). [V2 384-85] F. Ballard was deprived of the only real nurturing parent he had, his half-sister Cynthia Moore, at the age of six (proven - moderate weight). [V2 385] G. Ballard was subjected to severe punishments as a child (proven - moderate weight). [V2 385-86] H. Ballard was forced to witness severe punishments of his brothers and sisters (proven moderate weight). [V2 385-86] I. Ballard was forced to witness incidents of domestic abuse in his home as a child (proven moderate weight). [V2 385-86] J. Ballard was subjected to neglect as a child (proven - some weight). [V2 386] K. Ballard was never provided with regular medical care as a child (proven some weight). [V2 386] L. Ballard was never provided with regular

⁶ § 921.141(6)(f), Fla. Stat. (1997).

⁷ § 921.141(6)(h), Fla. Stat. (1997).

dental care as a child (proven - some weight). [V2 386] М. Ballard suffers from learning disabilities (proven - very little weight). [V2 386-87] N. Ballard has a limited education (proven very little weight). [V2 386-87] O. Ballard suffers from hearing loss (proven - very little weight). [V2 387] P. Ballard supplies emotional support to his children (proven - moderate weight). [V2 387] Q. Ballard is a good father and nurturing parent to his children (proven - moderate weight). [V2 387] R. Ballard provides emotional support to his wife (proven - moderate weight). [V2 387] S. Ballard loves his wife and children (proven - moderate weight). [V2 387] T. Ballard is a loving son to his mother (proven moderate weight). [V2 387] U. Ballard provides emotional support to his mother (proven - moderate weight). [V2 387] V. Ballard is a hard worker and solid provider for his family (proven - some weight). [V2 388] W. Ballard has been a loyal supportive friend to many (proven - very little weight). [V2 388] X. Ballard has often helped others in need (proven - very little weight). [V2 388] The court rejected Ballard's claim that he was innocent of the charged offenses on the ground that lingering or residual doubt is not a mitigating factor as a matter of law. [V2 388] The court found that each of the aggravating circumstances, standing

alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the mitigating circumstances. [V2 389]

Defense counsel filed a notice of appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal on June 2, 2003. [V2 448] Defense counsel filed an amended notice of appeal to this Court on June 27, 2003. [V2 457] The trial court appointed the public defender to represent Ballard on this appeal. [V2 456]

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State's Case

Jennifer Jones and Willy (Bubba) Patin lived in an apartment on 55th Terrace in Collier County. [V8 517-18, 534, 551-52] Jones had a small red Mazda hatchback. [V8 521, 537] Patin was unemployed. Jones had a housecleaning job and sold marijuana. The marijuana sales usually occurred in her bedroom. [V8 519-20, 536, 543, 545] John Ballard lived directly across the street with his wife and children. Ballard, Jones, and Patin were friends. Ballard was a regular visitor at their apartment. [V8 528, 532, 541-43]

On Saturday, March 6, 1999, Ariana Harralambus went to the apartment to see her friend Jones around 10:00 p.m. She said Jones, Patin, Ballard, Rob Daily, Mike Howell, and Louis were there. [V8 518, 529-30, 534] Daily said he was not sure whether Ballard was there on Saturday; he thought Ballard was there on Friday night. [V8 535-36] Jones and Patin were planning to move to Texas on Monday because Patin had a job lined up with his

father. [V8 521, 545] Also, a week before, Francisco Garcia shot through Jones and Patin's windows. Garcia was with two other men. They were affiliated with a gang. [V8 546] Harralambus testified that Jones had over a thousand dollars on Saturday night. Jones usually kept her money in her purse, under her waterbed mattress, and in a shoebox in her closet. [V8 521]

Jones and Patin had a boat. Harralambus and Daily made plans to go out on the boat with them Sunday morning around 11:00. [V8 522, 536] Both Harralambus and Daily tried to call and page Jones on Sunday without success. [V8 523-24, 537] Harralambus went to the apartment, but Jones' car was not there. She then went to a shopping center and tried again to page and call Jones. She returned to the apartment and left a folded note above the door asking Jones to page her. Jones never paged her. [V8 523-24] Daily also went to the apartment. He saw Patin's truck in the back yard, but Jones' car was gone. He was not able to contact them on Sunday. [V8 537]

On Monday, Harralambus tried to page and call Jones before going to work because Jones left her wallet in Harralambus' mother's car Saturday night. She was unable to contact her. [V8524-25] Daily also tried to call and page Jones without success. [V8 537-38]

Around 9:00 a.m. on Monday, a deputy responding to a call about an abandoned vehicle found Jones' Mazda in the woods at the back of a vacant lot on Painted Leaf Lane. [V8 555-63] The car had not been reported as stolen, and it did not appear that the ignition had been tampered with. [V8 556-57, 563] Officers who processed the car later found blood and fingerprints. The prints were not identified as coming from John Ballard. [V9 761] The deputy drove past Jones' apartment, which was 1.3 miles from the vacant lot, but he did not see anything out of the ordinary. [V8 558, 560] Ballard lived on Painted Leaf Lane with his father-inlaw Wayne Berry in 1994 when the road was named 28th Avenue Southwest. Berry's address was 6190 28th Avenue Southwest. Berry moved in 1996. [V8 564-66]

After work on Monday, Jones' friend Red went to the apartment, tried to open the sliding back door, then went to Daily's house and said he could not contact her. Daily called Jones' father, then met him in front of her apartment. Daily tried to open the front door. [V8 538-40, 545] They went to the sliding door, found that it was locked, and forced it open. They found Patin in the guest bedroom and Jones in her bedroom. [V8 540-41, 549] Daily could not find the telephone, so he went to the next-door neighbor's apartment and called the police. [V8 540]

Collier County Sheriff's Deputies and emergency medical personnel responded to the call around 4:46 p.m. They found Jones' body on the floor of the master bedroom and Patin's body on the floor of the spare bedroom. [V8 550-53; V9 716, 723] Blood spatter on Jones' body and the limited amount of blood spatter in the master bedroom, except in the vicinity of her body, indicated that she was not up very long after being attacked. [V9 723-24, 753-55] Extensive blood spatter in the bathroom, hall, and spare bedroom indicated that Patin was initially attacked in the bathroom, then went down the hall and crawled around the spare bedroom until he ended up in the vicinity of the closet. [V9 717-22, 725-739, 753,755] A barbell with a bloody fingerprint was found in the spare bedroom. [V8 582; V9 736, 738, 760] A curl bar with a bloody fingerprint was also found in the spare bedroom. [V9 759] Swabbings of suspected blood were taken from the barbell. Scrapings of suspected blood were taken from the curl bar and a lamp in the spare bedroom. [V9 744] The fingerprints on the barbell and curl bar were not identified as those of John Ballard. [V9 759-60] Some hair was found on a pair of plaid shorts by the weight bar. [V8 586, 595] The drawers of a dresser in the spare bedroom had been opened. [V9 755-56, 758] A black purse was found in the hallway. It had been knocked over or dumped over. [V8 583;

V9 718-19, 738, 758-59] A bottle of nail polish was found inside or next to the purse. [V8 585] The investigators were unable to determine how the apartment had been entered and what weapon was used to commit the murders. [V8 589-90]

Dr. Manfred Borges, the medical examiner, viewed the bodies at the scene and conducted the autopsies. [V9 763-64] He found multiple hairs in Jones' right hand under a torn piece of a plastic bag, which was stuck to her hand. [V8 575-76, 595-96; V9 695-97, 725, 766-69, 776-77, 790, 793, 797-99] He could not say how the hairs got in her hand. [V9 795] He collected a sample of her head hair [V9 768-69], nail scrappings and clippings [V8 577-78; V9 770, 789], and a sample of her blood for DNA testing. [V9 770] He also conducted a rape kit examination, but he did not find that Jones had been raped. [V8 577-78; V9 794] Dr. Borges determined that Jones died as the result of blunt force trauma to her head which shattered her skull. She was struck in the head at least three times. Her death would have been quick, but not necessarily instantaneous. [V9 778-81, 784, 794, 796] Jones also suffered defensive injuries. Her left thumb was broken, and there were abrasions on the fingers of her left hand. [V9 782-83] Jones was five feet, six inches tall and weighed 88 pounds. [V9 788]

Dr. Borges also found multiple hairs in Patin's left hand [V9 771, 793], but could not say how the hairs got there. [V9 795] Dr. Borges collected a sample of Patin's head hair [V9 697-98, 771], nail scrappings and clippings [V9 789], and a sample of his blood. [V8 580-81, V9 772] He determined that Patin also died of blunt force trauma to the head which shattered his skull. [V9 784-87] His death was also quick, within seconds or minutes, but it may not have been instantaneous; each blow brought him closer to death. [V9 786, 794, 796] Patin also suffered a defensive injury. The fingernail of his left middle finger was sheared off, and the skin behind it was bruised and damaged. [V9 786] Patin was five feet, seven inches tall and weighed 94 pounds. [V9 788] Dr. Borges examined a weight that was consistent with producing the blunt force trauma, but he could not say the weight was used to kill Jones and Patin. [V9 795-96]

A deputy found four fingerprints on the frame of the waterbed near the location of Jones' body. [V8 573-74, 587-88, 591-92, 598] More than a hundred latent prints were lifted from the apartment. [V8 599] Deputy Joseph Barber, a fingerprint examiner for the Collier County Sheriff's Office with twenty years experience [V8 600; V9 601-02, 614], received 118 latent print cards to examine. He found that forty-six of the prints were suitable for compari-

Of those, he was able to identify ten, none of which were son. made by Ballard.⁸ [V9 603-05, 615] Of the four latent prints found on the frame of the waterbed, two were smudges not suitable for identification. [V9 606-07] Two more, Q37 and Q50, had some ridge detail, but Barber could not identify them. [V9 607-09] Nor could he eliminate Ballard as the person who made them. [V9 609] Barber testified that he had used enlarged photographs of finger-prints for courtroom presentations in the past, but it was not a process used for identification. [V9 612] Barber sent 105 unidentified prints to FDLE. [V9 612-13] One of the unidentified prints which was suitable for comparison came from the inside driver's door handle, but the officer who found it did not specify which vehicle it came from. [V9 616] Mr. Tabakman, the other Collier County Sheriff's Office fingerprint expert, reviewed Barber's work in this case and agreed with his conclusions. [V9 624-25]

Phillip Balunan, an FDLE crime laboratory analyst with four years experience in fingerprint identification [V9 631], examined the 105 unidentified prints and identified three of them. [V9 635-36] He made the identification about one year after finishing his probation after his training. [V9 660] He was certified by FDLE but not by the International Association of Identification. [V9

⁸ Three prints were made by Jones, six were made by Patin, and one was made by someone named Freeman. The Freeman print was found on a CD in Jones' car. [V9 605-06]

663-64] He passed annual proficiency examinations given by FDLE. [V9 666-67] Balunan photographed the latent prints and used the photos to make the identifications. [V9 636] The latent prints can be enhanced by making the photo lighter or darker or by changing the contrast of the photo. [V9 639-40] Balunan identified Q50 as the fingerprint of John Ballard. [V9 641-42] His identification of the print was subjected to peer review and confirmed by FDLE fingerprint analyst Steven Casper. [V9 667, 670-79]

Balunan prepared a chart to demonstrate the points he used in reaching this conclusion. [V9 642] Defense counsel objected to the chart and requested a <u>Richardson</u>⁹ hearing. He argued that in a deposition Balunan said he used one on one photographs, while the chart used enlargements. Balunan also said in deposition that he did not know how many points of identification he used, while the chart had numerous arrows pointing at points of identifica-tion. This information was not provided to the defense before trial nor in the deposition. [V9 642-43] The prosecutor responded that Balunan had not prepared anything to show the jury at trial at the time of the deposition. Also, he was not offering the chart into evidence, but to show how Balunan came to his conclusion. [V9 643] The court excused the jury to conduct a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry. [V9 643-44]

⁹ <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

Balunan said he prepared the chart earlier during the week of trial. [V9 644] The points shown on the chart were not the only ones he used to make the identification. [V9 644-45] The chart was a representation to demonstrate how he conducted his examination. He did not use a set number of points. He plotted ten points on the chart for the demonstration, but there were more than ten points on the latent fingerprint. [V9 645] The chart was prepared with enlarged photos from the latent lift card and the inked print card to which he compared it using one on one photos. [V9 645-46] In his deposition, defense counsel asked if he noted how many points of identification there were, and Balunan answered no. [V9 646] Number one on the chart was Balunan's beginning point. There were many points of identification. Balunan had not made any note or reference in his examination about how many points of identification he had. [V9 647] The numbers on the chart were "not for numerical purposes," he could have used "There's no numerical value as to the points of letters. identification." [V9 648]

Defense counsel argued that he inquired about points of identification, and Balunan did not give him any, but now they were going to be discussing numbers. He should have been given that information in advance. He would have prepared differently.

He could have looked at it and gotten another expert if he needed one. [V9 649] The prosecutor replied that the points on the chart were not the only ones Balunan relied on. He was just using the chart to demonstrate how he concluded this was Ballard's print. The fact that the chart said 10 did not make any difference. [V9 649-50] The court ruled that there was not a discovery violation and permitted use of the chart for demonstrative purposes. [V9 651]

When the jurors returned to the courtroom, the court instructed them, "What you're now going to be looking at is not evidence, it's only used as a demonstrative aid." [V9 651] Balunan testified, using the chart, that he photographed the known and latent fingerprints, making light, medium, and dark copies of the latent print photo. This process did not change anything in the photo. [V9 651-52, 661, 665] He then used a magnifying loop to examine each of the ten known prints and determined that the number one finger deserved more examination. [V9 652-53, 660-61] He examined that known print side-by-side with the latent print and matched individual characteristics present in both. [V9 653-54] He did not have a particular starting point, but for purposes of showing how an examination is done, he had "tried several points on latent fingerprints and the ink fingerprint to explain

or to demonstrate to you that these two fingerprints are, indeed, made by the same finger." [V9 654] He then described how each of the ten points marked on the chart had the same ridge characteristics on both the known and latent prints. [V9 654-57] He told the jury he did not do or base his examination on the chart, which was for demonstrative purposes. [V9 657, 664-65] There were more points that he did not mark. [V9 657] There is no scientific method to determine the age of a fingerprint or how long it has been in place. [V9 658, 665]

In March, 1999, FDLE analysts prepared stain cards from known samples of Jennifer Jones' blood and Willie Patin's blood. [V10 813-23] In December, 1999, a nurse drew a known sample of John Ballard's blood and gave it to a detective who observed the blood draw. [V10 805-12]

John Kilbourn, a forensic scientist for a private, commercial laboratory [V10 834, 851], examined six hairs that were found in Jennifer Jones' right hand. He compared them to a sample of Jones' head hair and determined that three of the hairs were consistent with her head hair. Two hairs were too short to make any conclusion. The sixth hair had been cut in two and placed in separate test tubes. This hair was accompanied by PCR extracts from the root and shaft. It was consistent with the known arm

hair of John Ballard. [V10 836-39, 852, 857-58] Hairs cannot be absolutely identified by microscopic examination. It is not as scientifically exact as fingerprint or DNA identification. [V10 857-58]

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