IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN ROBERT BALLARD,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC03-1012

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE ON APPEAL FROM THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY, FLORIDA

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite

Tampa, Florida 33607

Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

200

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

doctor described as "aimless wandering." Dr. Dee further stated that the Defendant is an impulsive risk-taker; and although industrious, the Defendant has had a high number of jobs. In essence, Dr. Dee concluded that the Defendant may be intelligent, but is self-limiting nonetheless, due to his brain damage.

The Court notes here that there were no truly objective tests presented in support of Dr. Dee's opinion. No X-rays, CT scans, PT scans, MRI's or other diagnostic test results were administered or admitted in evidence to support the doctor's opinion. In addition, although Dr. Dee testified that the disparity between the verbal and non-verbal scores on the neuropsychological tests administered to the Defendant clearly indicate the presence of organic brain damage, the Defendant's life circumstances at the time these crimes were committed are inconsistent with a diagnosis of brain damage.

In particular, according to the Defendant's wife, Michelle Ballard, the Defendant has been married for ten years, has raised children, and has been described as a "good father," an "inventive" parent, and a man who has "come a long way since we first met." Indeed, Mrs. Ballard described characteristics and activities of the Defendant which lend more credence to the notion that the Defendant may have had a learning disability rather than brain damage.

Those characteristics and activities include "coin flip trips" and "rehearsed book readings," the latter designed by the Defendant because he did not want his children to think him ignorant. These characteristics, along with the letter read in open court by Michelle Ballard penned by the Defendant's oldest child, John, do not

corroborate Dr. Dee's diagnosis of brain damage, but rather are more suggestive of a learning disability.

The Court notes here that Dr. Dee's opinion was uncontroverted. But that does not require the Court to accept the testimony without reservation. Indeed, the fact that there was no truly objective evidence to support this statutory mitigating circumstance, the apparently otherwise normal lifestyle of the Defendant and all of the other circumstances noted above, do not, in this Court's view, support by a preponderance of the evidence the existence of this mitigating circumstance.

However, to the extent that Dr. Dee's testimony can be reasonably interpreted to support the proposition that the Defendant is learning disabled (as opposed to brain damaged), the Court finds that this mitigating circumstance has been established but affords it VERY LITTLE WEIGHT.

2. The capacity of the Defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. §921.141(6)(f), Fla. Stat. (1997).

The Court recalls no testimony from Dr. Dee that would establish the existence of this mitigating factor nor does the Court find that there was any evidence presented on the Defendant's behalf to establish it.

Accordingly, the Court finds that this statutory mitigating circumstance has not been proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

(V-2, 381-383). 16 The trial court's findings are consistent

with the testimony presented below, and supported by competent, substantial evidence. Dr. Dee acknowledged that he could not specifically identify the purported brain damage which was suggested by appellant's test scores; he could not determine when or how the damage may have occurred and conceded that his test scores could be attributed to a learning disability rather than brain damage. (V-5, 885, 887). The court noted both the lack of objective diagnostic support for Dee's conclusions as well as the inconsistency between Dee's impression of organic brain damage and the testimony from family members describing Ballard as a good and inventive parent with a normal lifestyle, suggesting a learning disability rather than brain damage.

Appellant's extensive reliance on <u>Crook v. State</u>, 813 So. 2d 68 (Fla. 2002), is misplaced. The nature and quality of the expert testimony presented below differed substantially from the evidence discussed in <u>Crook</u>. In <u>Crook</u>, three defense experts, two of which specialized in the field of brain injuries, testified unequivocally that Crook had sustained frontal lobe damage, principally tied to an incident when Crook was five years old and hit on the head with a pipe. The expert conclusions were supported by diagnostic testing, interviews with Crook's mother, and review of Crook's school

and medical records. This Court found "most significantly," that the experts in Crook were able to explain the causes and origins of Crook's brain damage and establish that there was a causal link between the damage and the homicide.

Conversely, in the instant case, Dr. Dee's testimony as to the suspected frontal lobe brain damage and Ballard's asserted impaired capacity was not strong. Although Dee determined that the discrepancy between Ballard's verbal and nonverbal intelligence scores "raised the question" and was considered a reliable indicator of brain damage, Dee could not identify when or how any brain damage may have occurred, and did not believe any brain injury in this case "caused" the murder. (V-5, 883-887, 893). Dee's suspicion of brain damage was based entirely on the results obtained on Ballard's psychological testing; Dee admitted that his testing results were also consistent with Ballard's known learning disability, and that no objective medical testing, such as x-rays or brain scans, supported his opinion on the existence of brain damage. (V-5, 892-93). Unlike the noted brain injury specialists in Crook, Dee made no attempt to confirm his suspicion through radiology testing, witness interviews, or record reviews. Dee's conclusion that appellant understood that his actions were wrong but just couldn't stop himself from doing them was

only offered on redirect examination, 17 and Dee did not disclose the factual basis for his conclusion beyond his opinion that appellant could be extremely impulsive based on psychological tests. (V-5, 895-96). On these facts, the trial court's determination that organic brain damage and substantial impairment to conform actions to the law had not been proven is proper and not subject to rebuke on appeal.

See e.g. Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503, 1518 (11th Cir. 1989)("Before we are convinced of a reasonable probability that a jury's verdict would have been swayed by the testimony of a mental health professional, we must look beyond the professional's opinion, rendered in the impressive language of the discipline, to the facts upon which the opinion is based.")(citing Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 1439, 1447 (11th Cir. 1987)).

In <u>Crook</u>, the trial court apparently did not explain its basis for rejecting the uncontroverted testimony of the defense experts, but remarked there had been no actual proof of damage. <u>Crook</u>, 813 So. 2d at 76-77. However, as previously noted, the sentencing order in this case provides the reasons for the rejection of Dr. Dee's testimony -- that it was unsupported factually, lacking the foundation discussed by the experts in <u>Crook</u> from diagnostic confirmation and a

medical history, and inconsistent with other testimony relating appellant's seemingly normal lifestyle. The equivocal nature of Dr. Dee's assessment aligns this case more appropriately with Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 844 (Fla. 1997), where this Court affirmed the lower courts' rejection of purported evidence of brain damage. See also Robinson v. State, 761 So. 2d 269, 276-77 (Fla. 1999) (trial court properly reduced weight for mitigation of brain damage due to lack of evidence that it caused Robinson's criminal behavior).

Clearly, on the facts of this case, the court below had discretion to accept or reject Dr. Dee's testimony. Knight v. State, 746 So. 2d 423, 436 (Fla. 1998) (noting even uncontroverted expert testimony can be rejected, especially when it is difficult to reconcile with other evidence); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 388 (Fla. 1994); Foster v. State, 679 So. 2d 747, 755 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1122 (1997). The court's order outlines relevant considerations which properly impact a reasoned credibility decision. Where, as here, opinion testimony relies on facts which are not supported by the evidence, its weight is properly diminished. Walls, 641 So. 2d at 388; Gudinas v. State, 693 So. 2d 953, 967 (Fla.) (affirming rejection of expert testimony on

statutory mental mitigators where expert's opinion was heavily based on unsupported facts), cert.denied, 522 U.S. 936 (1997). On the facts of this case, no impropriety has been shown with regard to the trial court's treatment of the mental mitigation evidence.

This Court has repeatedly recognized the relative weight to be assigned any aggravating or mitigating circumstance is within the broad discretion of the trial judge. Blanco v. State, 706 So. 2d 7, 10 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 837 (1998); Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845, 852 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1051 (1998); Bell v. State, 699 So. 2d 674, 678 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1123 (1998); Campbell, 571 So. 2d at 420. As a general rule, a trial court's treatment of mitigation after a proper inquiry and comprehensive analysis of the evidence will not be disturbed on appeal. Knight, 746 So. 2d at 436. The trial court's single-spaced, fourteen page order in this case extensively discusses all of the judge's findings with regard to each mitigating factor proposed by the defense. (V2/377-390). A fair review of that order, and the testimony supporting it, clearly refutes appellant's claim that the court below did not properly consider the mitigating evidence he presented.

Finally, even if this Court reaches a different

conclusion with regard to the trial court's findings as to any of this mitigation, there is no reason to remand this cause for resentencing since it is clear that any further consideration would not result in the imposition of a life sentence. Despite limiting the weight of some of the mitigation proposed by appellant, the trial court did weigh the mental health testimony as statutory mitigation and found an additional 24 nonstatutory factors in mitigation. (V-2, 381-88). Any error relating to the sentencing court's failure to articulate additional findings regarding the mitigation is clearly harmless since the mitigation in this case cannot offset the strong aggravating factors found. Thomas v. State, 693 So. 2d 951, 953 (Fla. 1997); Lawrence v. State, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1076 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 880 (1997); Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685, 696 (Fla. 1995); Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1085 (1995); Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 505 U.S. 1209 (1992); Cook v. State, 581 So. 2d 141, 144 (Fla.) ("we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the judge still would have imposed the sentence of death even if the sentencing order had contained findings that each of these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances had been proven"), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 890 (1991).

Although appellant does not contest the proportionality of his sentence, this Court must conduct a proportionality analysis. The instant case involves a double murder -- a vicious, extended attack on a couple in their own home, in order to steal money. While numerous nonstatutory mitigating factors were found, the mental health testimony was not compelling and there was little of significance offered to mitigate the brutal murders. Comparable cases for proportionality purposes include Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 2003); Smithers v. State, 826 So. 2d 916 (Fla. 2002); Hannon v. State, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994); and Jones v. State, 612 So. 2d 1370 (Fla. 1992). As appellant has offered no reasonable basis for vacating the death sentences imposed, and the facts demonstrate that this was a heavily aggravated case with little mitigation, this Court should affirm the sentences.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY STATUTE VIOLATES THE SIXTH AMENDMENT? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant also challenges the trial court's denial of his motion to declare Florida's statute to be facially unconstitutional under <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). As this is a purely legal issue, appellate review is de novo.

Trotter v. State, 825 So. 2d 362, 365 (Fla. 2002).

This Court has repeatedly rejected appellant's claim that Ring invalidated Florida's capital sentencing procedures. See Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 49 (Fla. 2003); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003)(Ring does not encompass Florida procedures or require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury); Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817, 834 (Fla. 2003)(rejecting Ring claim in a single aggravator (HAC) case); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070 (2002); King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 657 (2002).

Appellant criticizes this Court's reluctance to overrule United States Supreme Court precedent upholding the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing procedures, asserting that, by overruling Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), the Ring opinion necessarily overruled Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989), because Walton was premised on Hildwin. This oversimplification fails to acknowledge fundamental differences between the Arizona and Florida sentencing procedures. This Court has consistently maintained

that, unlike the situation in Arizona, the statutory maximum sentence for first degree murder in Florida is death. See

Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532, 536-538 (Fla. 2001); Mann v.

Moore, 794 So. 2d 595, 599 (Fla. 2001); Porter, 840 So. 2d at 986; Shere v. Moore, 830 So. 2d 56, 61 (Fla. 2002)("This Court has defined a capital felony to be one where the maximum possible punishment is death"). Because Ring holds that any fact which increases the penalty beyond the statutory maximum must be found by the jury, and because death is the statutory maximum for first degree murder in Florida, Ring does not establish Sixth Amendment error under Florida's statutory scheme. As appellant's argument has been consistently rejected, there is no error presented in the trial court's denial of his motion to declare Florida's capital sentencing statute to be unconstitutional.

Even if some deficiency in the statute could be discerned, appellant has no legitimate claim of any Sixth Amendment error on the facts of this case. Appellant claims initially that the Sixth Amendment violation created by adherence to the statute constitutes structural error which cannot be harmless under <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. 275 (1993). He also posits that a constitutional harmless error analysis demonstrates the alleged jury defect in this case was

harmful because, accepting the fact that the prior violent felony conviction and during a robbery aggravators do not have to be found by a jury, those factors alone would not support the death sentences in this case. Both of these arguments are without merit.

Clearly, a Sixth Amendment violation can be harmless.

Any claim to the contrary ignores the plain result of Ring itself, which was remanded so that the state court could conduct a harmless error analysis. Ring, 536 U.S. at 609, n.7. This result is consistent with a number of other United States Supreme Court decisions. See United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625 (2002)(failure to recite amount of drugs for enhanced sentence in indictment did not require conviction to be vacated); Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8-9 (1999) (failure to submit an element to the jury did not constitute structural error).

Moreover, appellant's harmless error analysis is flawed.

Appellant's attempt to demonstrate harmful error in this case confuses the distinction between the right to a jury trial on a capital offense with the jury participation required for imposition of sentence. According to appellant, since Florida is a weighing state, a judge cannot consider any aggravating factor that was not expressly found by a unanimous jury. He

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